

'BAD MOTHERS <u>AND INVISIBLE</u> FATHERS'

PARENTING IN THE CONTEXT OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

© DVRCV

First published 2009

ISSN 1441-0206

This work is copyright. Apart from any use as permitted under the Copyright Act 1968, no part may be reproduced by any process without prior written permission. Requests and enquiries concerning reproduction and rights should be directed to DVRCV.

Domestic Violence Resource Centre, Victoria (DVRCV)
292 Wellington Street
Collingwood Victoria 3066
Phone (03) 9486 9866
Fax (03) 9486 9744
Email dvrcv@dvrcv.org.au
Internet www.dvrcv.org.au

Researched and written by Ellen Fish, Mandy McKenzie and Helen MacDonald Layout by Lorna Hendry

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

A number of people contributed to the development of this paper. Thank you to Janet Hall, Cathy Humphreys, Trish Reck, Jane Stanley, Deb Western, and Donna Zander for providing invaluable insight into the topic. Thanks to Carole Jean from the Australian Institute of Family Studies library and Delanie Woodlock from the DVRCV library for their assistance in accessing and providing reference material.

'BAD MOTHERS AND INVISIBLE FATHERS':

PARENTING IN THE CONTEXT OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

Contents

Introduction	4
Mothering and Domestic Violence	7
Entrapment of Women into Violent Relationships	8
Controlling Conception and Pregnancy	8
Entrapment during Pregnancy	9
Fear of Poverty	9
Cultural Barriers	IO
Women with Disabilities	10
Post Separation Difficulties	10
Undermining the Mother-Child Relationship	II
During Pregnancy	12
Blaming Mothers	13
Controlling Domestic Labour and Child Care	14
Undermining Maternal Authority	15
Involving Children in Domestic Violence	16
How Domestic Violence Affects Mothering	18
What the Research Shows	18
Maintaining Effective Parenting	19
Stress and Emotional Distance	20
Lack of Control	21
Sleep Problems and Mothering	21
Effects on the Mother-Child Relationship	22
Deciding to Stay or Leave for the Sake of the Children	23
Recognising the Range of Maternal Responses	24
When Mothers Abuse their Children	25
An Intersectional Analysis	26
'Good Enough' Mothering	27
Fathering and Domestic Violence	29
Professional Responses	33
How Violent Men use Systems to their Advantage	33
Family Law	34
Child Protection	38
Talking Points	41
Conclusion	43
References	44

A Note on Terminology

This Discussion Paper uses the term 'domestic' rather than 'family' violence, as it takes as its focus gendered violence that is perpetrated mainly by men against women (both in relationships and after separation). However, DVRCV acknowledges that, especially for Aboriginal people, 'family violence' is thought to better encapsulate the various forms that this violence can take (see Cummings and Katona, 1995; Bagshaw et al, 1999; MacDonald, 1998: 13).

The Paper defines domestic violence as encompassing both single isolated acts and a sustained pattern of violence over time. The types of violence included are physical violence, sexual violence, emotional or psychological abuse, financial abuse, isolation, sleep deprivation and spiritual abuse.

The choice to focus on gendered violence is underpinned by the fact that women are overwhelmingly the victims of intimate partner violence (ABS, 2005; Bagshaw and Chung, 2000). One recent Australian survey found that one in five women in Australia are victims of domestic violence (ABS, 2005). Several studies which have focused on domestic violence in heterosexual relationships have revealed that the violence is perpetrated by men against women (Dobash and Dobash, 2000; Mirrlees and Black, 1999; Walby and Allen, 2004).

The Paper focuses on mothers in heterosexual relationships, but DVRCV acknowledges that the dynamics of power and control can exist in all intimate partner relationships, including in same-sex relationships.

Introduction

Over the last four decades researchers have gradually become interested in how domestic violence complicates mothering (Stark and Filcraft, 1988; Kelly, 1994) albeit in research with a different, or a broader focus. The literature has focused on the effects of children's exposure to domestic violence, in relation to women's ability to care for and protect their children, rather than on women's own experiences of mothering in the context of domestic violence (Lapierre, 2009). Only in recent years have researchers begun to write about how men attack women's mothering as part of their violence or as a strategy of abuse. For example, Bagshaw and Chung noted from their 1998 Australian study that men's verbal abuse of women often targeted 'their intelligence, sexuality, body image and capacity as a wife or parent' (2000: II).

Furthermore, it was not until the early 2000s that research on domestic violence focused specifically upon the effects of that violence on mothering and the mother-child relationship. As Radford and Hester note, this is despite 'over thirty years of research and activism against violence against women whether from the viewpoint of women's experiences, of children's experiences, or on the basis of review of social policy and academic discourses' (2001: 135). Many women's experiences of domestic violence cannot be separated from their parenting and, over the last three years, there have been signs that this is gaining momentum as a research topic (see Radford and Hester, 2001, 2006; Lapierre, 2007, 2008a, 2008b, 2009; Humphreys, 2007a, 2007b, 2007c; Humphreys et al, 2009; Humphreys et al, 2006; Krane and Davies, 2007; Letourneau et al, 2007; Levendosky et al, 2000; Levendosky and Graham-Berman, 2001; Levendosky et al, 2003).

While it has been argued that mothers who have been subjected to domestic violence are on the whole innovative in their responses to it, becoming experts at managing their own and their children's survival (McInnes, 2002: 23), domestic violence has many negative consequences for its victims (see Kelly, 1994; McCloskey et al, 1995; Mirrlees-Black, 1999; Bancroft and Silverman, 2002; Taft, 2002; Fraser, 2003; Humphreys and Thiara, 2003 and 2005; VicHealth, 2004a; McCosker and Woods, 2006; WHO, 2006; Lowe et al, 2007).

Unsurprisingly, these can impact upon a woman's mothering role – including on her perception of herself as a mother and on her relationship and interactions with her children.¹

Traditionally, children's wellbeing has been viewed as primarily the responsibility of women, and societies have placed high expectations on women as mothers — to such an extent that the ideal of a 'good' mother is a familiar cultural figure: she is nurturing and self-sacrificing, always placing her children's welfare before her own. When children have psychological or behavioural problems, it is their mothers who are generally held accountable. And in the context of domestic violence, mothers tend to be blamed if their children are harmed, even when they themselves did not perpetrate that harm.

The consequence of these expectations about mothering in family relationships is that violent men — who are also fathers, step-fathers or male carers to the family's children — escape visibility and are not held accountable for the effect of their behaviour on their children. Women's difficulties, including with mothering, instead become the focus of attention.

In addition, the fact that many women gain fulfilment and social affirmation from their role as mothers is well known to perpetrators of domestic violence, who may use that knowledge against women, directing their attacks towards this aspect of their partner's life to undermine her identity as a mother and also the mother-child relationship. Further problems arise when those who work in the social and legal institutions which intervene in cases of domestic violence are also influenced by the view that women are predominantly responsible for their children's wellbeing.

This Discussion Paper draws on recent research from the United Kingdom, North America and Australia to illuminate how domestic violence affects women's abilities to mother a couple's children and how mothering in such situations can trap women in gendered violence. In combination, perpetrators who undermine and attack women in their mothering role, and wider societal expectations about good mothering, form a complex set of circumstances and outcomes for mothers who are living in, leaving, or have left a violent relationship. Many parent their children effectively. But the violence makes this more difficult and its effects on children's own wellbeing in turn impacts back upon their mothers. It can be hard

1 Women's experiences of mothering through and after domestic violence also depend upon their different personalities, life experiences and other cultural, economic, and contextual factors, such as level of support from family, friends, partners, professionals and the community.

2 We have placed concepts such as a 'good' mother in inverted commas the first time it appears, but not where the concept is subsequently mentioned.

enough for women who are traumatised by violence to mother traumatised children; when social services and legal systems also hold women responsible for the negative effects of the violence on their children, women's confidence in their parenting abilities and their relationship with their children is further undermined.

This Paper suggests that good parenting, rather than good mothering, should be placed at the centre of attention when decisions are being made about where a child's best interests lie in the context of domestic violence. It raises for discussion what 'good fathering' comprises and challenges the view, sometimes expressed, that men who perpetrate domestic violence against a child's mother can still be considered good fathers. The Paper questions why the fathering role is not subjected to the same level of scrutiny as is the mothering role in such cases. It asks what social service and legal responses to domestic violence might look like, if these were based upon an understanding that children's wellbeing is the responsibility of both parents.

Finally, the Paper argues that children's health and wellbeing will only be optimised when women's attempts to parent in these difficult circumstances are valued and supported in ways that strengthen and re-build their relationships with their children.

Mothering and Domestic Violence

Mothering is not simply a biological imperative. It is also a social and cultural construction (Silva, 1996: 1). While women carry babies during pregnancy, give birth and often breastfeed them, both women and men are equally able to provide for a child's physical, social and emotional needs. Yet in many parts of the world the primary responsibility for caring for children has traditionally been placed on women.

This social expectation has implications for the choices women make, how they perceive themselves and how they are viewed and treated by others. When motherhood is seen as something that requires 'women's exclusive and selfless attention to and care of children based on women's psychological self-sacrifice' (DiQuinzio, 1999: xiii), mothers who fall short of that ideal can be harshly judged. They tend to be blamed if their children experience any difficulties. In contrast, men do not experience the same kind of pressure to be good fathers. Nor are they usually held responsible when something goes wrong with their children.

Women's mothering is one of the targets of men's use of violence against women and children (Mullender et al, 2002; Radford and Hester, 2006). Mothering is central in abusive men's 'exercise of control and domination and expression of authority and power over their partners' (Lapierre, 2007: 151). Mullender et al (2002) note that 'it is not an accident that abusive men attack women's abilities to mother; they know that this represents a source of positive identity, the thing above all else that abused women try to preserve, and also that it is an area of vulnerability' (p. 158).

Domestic violence adds another difficult dimension to women's role as mothers and to social evaluations of how they perform in that role. Indeed, negative perceptions of women's mothering can be most influential at the very times when such women most need support — as when a partner is violent towards her. When that occurs, women are commonly held responsible for addressing the violence and abuse; and they are expected to take the lead in protecting their children from it, in particular by leaving their partners (Humphreys, 2007b). If they cannot, they are blamed for that. As Lapierre notes, 'mother blaming has consequences for women's experiences of mothering, often leading to self-blame and guilt' (2007: 151).

Driven by a desire to dominate his partner, an abusive man can use the institution of motherhood against a woman by exploiting the physical and social demands placed on her in her role as a mother, for example by controlling decisions around reproduction, creating dependency through pregnancy, controlling the domestic environment and engaging in mother blaming. These strategies succeed with women who feel responsible and try to mother well (Lapierre, 2007: 151).

Radford and Hester (2006) draw on Richie's concept of 'gender entrapment' to explain this phenomenon of a man strategising to undermine a woman by attacking her identity and authority as a mother.³ This may be further reinforced by some attitudes which are at work in the courts and child protection agencies (see Professional Responses section for more on this).

Entrapment of Women into Violent Relationships

Controlling Conception and Pregnancy

Abusive men may exploit women's biology to trap them in the relationship. A woman may be impregnated through rape; the man may control decisions relating to contraception. A recent study in the USA, based on interviews with young women who had experienced domestic violence found that a quarter of them said their partners were actively trying to get them pregnant by manipulating condom use, sabotaging birth control and making explicit statements about wanting them to become pregnant (Miller et al. 2007).

Two of the women interviewed by Canadian researcher Simon Lapierre had unwanted pregnancies because of their partners' control over the reproduction and contraception. Lapierre suggests that the perpetrators' intention of getting their partners pregnant seemed not to be motivated by the desire to have children. Rather, it was an attempt to create dependency and tie their partners to the relationship (Lapierre, 2007: 147).

A further example of this kind of abuse was reported by an Australian woman who sent her story to DVRCV.⁴ It illustrates the kinds of emotional and verbal manipulation that can be used to pressure a woman to continue with a pregnancy and thereby keep her in the abusive relationship.

³ Richie used the phrase 'gender entrapment' to explain why some African-American battered women who live in poverty in the US may turn to crime. She argues that these women are 'set up to fail' in their relationships and life goals because they are marginalised by the combination of living through violence, sexism, racism and poverty (in Radford and Hester, 2006: 28).

⁴ In 1998 DVRCV (then DVIRC) asked young women who had experienced domestic violence to send in their stories to assist others who visited our website When Love Hurts.

We received over 1,000 stories, a selection of which is published on the website www.dvrcv.org.au/whenlove.

After just a few weeks I accidentally fell pregnant to him. I was not ready for this but he talked me round with logic and charm . . . I became incredibly depressed and confused. He would order me around and tell me what to do, how to do it, put me down if I got it wrong, put my friends down, belittle my hobbies. Nothing I could do was good enough and I felt every minute was spent trying to please him . . . I was a shell and freaking out about the pregnancy. Normally really talkative, I was scared to do or say anything . . . Somehow I found the strength to have a termination. It was the hardest decision I have ever made. He exploded at me and wouldn't stop. I meekly called him an arsehole. I was exhausted and felt desperate and traumatised (Fiona, age 28).

Entrapment during Pregnancy

A second form of gender entrapment can occur during pregnancy. This is a time when women may be physically and emotionally dependent on their partner for support. Yet research has shown that pregnancy is a time of increased risk of domestic violence (Taft, 2002; McCosker-Howard and Woods, 2006) and that abuse during pregnancy is more common than other pregnancy-related complications (Campbell et al, 2000).

Fear of Poverty

Women are further ensnared in violent relationships by the fear that if they leave they will have nowhere to live and little money to support themselves and their children. Single mothers notoriously lack social and financial support. Those without paid work or with only part-time employment often live on incomes below the poverty line (Council for Single Mothers and their Children, 2004: I). A recent Australian study which used longitudinal data to examine and compare women and men's financial living standards following divorce found that divorce has a significant negative impact on women's household incomes (de Vaus et al, 2009). This study revealed that in the short term divorced women's income decreased sharply. Furthermore, women with a child aged under 18 experienced a particularly significant dip in equivalent income in the year immediately following divorce. The study also showed that over a five-year period the income of divorcing women only increased by 2.9 per cent, while men's income increased by 12.5 per cent (de Vaus et al, 2009: 10). Knowing they may be faced with low income and potential poverty, women might decide to remain in the violent relationship.

Cultural Barriers

Cultural norms can create further barriers to mothers leaving violent partners as some women originate from cultures where there are strong prohibitions against separation and divorce (Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture, 2001). In some immigrant communities family life is strongly tied to community life and a woman who leaves her husband may be ostracised. There may also be strong cultural prohibitions on discussing what goes on inside the family. For example, some Aboriginal or Indigenous women do not report rape or sexual assault because the closeness of their communities means that they fear reprisals and shame (Keel, 2004: 7).

Women with Disabilities

Mothers who have a disability and are being abused by their partners may face particular problems in escaping from a violent relationship. They may depend upon their partner to meet some of their care needs; and/or may be physically unable to leave the house. As Jennings has noted, such women face the 'triple disadvantage of being a woman, having a disability and being a victim survivor of violence' (Jennings, 2003: II).

Post Separation Difficulties

Other difficulties arise when women have left a violent relationship but find themselves still tied to it through child contact and handover arrangements. Research such as that of Radford and Hester (2006) has shown that child contact can be used by violent partners as a direct route through which to continue to abuse the child's mother, such as by harming the child or by harrassing, controlling and impoverishing the mother through repeated court appearances (see also Evans, 2007; Rendell et al, 2000). Some call this 'litigation abuse' or 'battery by law' (Radford and Hester, 2006: 83).

Undermining the Mother-Child Relationship

In the research and practice literature there has been much discussion about the effects of domestic violence on women, and on children who are exposed to the violence perpetrated against their mothers (Kelly, 1994; Mullender and Morley, 1994; McCloskey et al, 1995; Mirrlees-Black, 1999; Morris 1999a and 1999b; 2004; Bancroft and Silverman, 2002; McGee, 2000; Mullender et al, 2002; Taft, 2002; Fraser, 2003; Humphreys and Thiara, 2003 and 2005; VicHealth, 2004a; McCosker and Woods, 2006; Bedi and Goddard, 2007; Hester et al, 2007; Lowe et al, 2007). However only recently has attention been paid to understanding how a perpetrator's actions create problems for women's identity as mothers and also their relationship with their children, and what these actions involve.

Mullender and colleagues (2002) have highlighted the way domestic violence can undermine the mother-child relationship and Humphreys et al (2006: 10) outline the 'tactics of abuse' which both directly and indirectly interfere with the mother-child relationship. Direct tactics include those against women during pregnancy, prevention of women attending to their babies, insulting and being critical of women in front of their children, taking up all of the women's attention so that they are prevented from attending to their children and active sleep deprivation. Indirect effects on the mother-child relationship discussed in these studies include a man's attempts at making sure the woman is unavailable to her children through physical disablement which resulted in hospitalisation, or which meant she was in bed recovering from physical injuries, or mentally unavailable because she was experiencing trauma, depression or had attempted suicide.

As part of a research project conducted in 1999, Anne Morris developed the term 'maternal alienation' to describe the strategies perpetrators deliberately use to undermine mother-child relationships within the contexts of domestic violence and child sexual abuse (Morris, 2004). Perpetrators use verbal messages and actions to demean the mother; they put her in a position where children can hate and despise her, insulting and even abusing her themselves, and in situations in which any action can become further proof of what the perpe-

5 The term 'maternal alienation' was coined partly in response to the contentious term Parental Alienation Syndrome (PAS) (Gardner, 1987), used mostly by men in custody disputes in the US, and increasingly in Australia, to undermine mothers' allegations of their violence and abuse towards the mother and/or child, particularly child sexual abuse (Myers, 1997; Dallam, 1998 cited in Morris, 2004: 2).

trator says about the children's mother. The power of these messages is built on the commanding way in which they are communicated, the rhetorical devices used and the emotional responses they elicit. The messages are propaganda, and can work powerfully on children, becoming more authoritative than children's own experiences of their mother and of their abuse. As they conflict with children's experiences, these assaults on children's sense of reality have implications for their later mental health and healing.

During Pregnancy

Domestic violence during pregnancy is a serious problem with health consequences for both the mother and her unborn child (McCosker-Howard and Woods, 2006: II3) including miscarriage and other pregnancy-related complications. The Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) 2005 Personal Safety Survey revealed that 37 per cent of the women who were pregnant during the relationship with a violent partner experienced abuse in pregnancy. For 16 per cent of these women, that was for the first time (ABS, 2007: 4). The attacks were often severe; and the violence was frequently the beginning of what went on to become a pattern of continued domestic violence experienced by these women.

Kelly (1994) refers to domestic abuse during pregnancy as one example of a 'double level of intentionality' because it is both a type of woman abuse and of child abuse, with the abuser's intention being for one to affect the other. An attack on a pregnant woman is also an attack on the mother's relationship with her child (Humphreys, 2007: 55). Kelly (1994) argues that the issues of women's bearing and mothering children and abuse by their partners are so interlinked that it is difficult to disconnect them. This is particularly evident where pregnancies result from rape, where pregnancies are used to control women, where children are made to choose to side with the violent father, and where children are drawn by their fathers into abusing their mothers.

In the US, Lundy Bancroft and Jay Silverman have explored some of the reasons why men attack women during pregnancy. Both have worked extensively with abusive men (and, to a lesser extent, with their families). These researchers note that pregnancy is a time when the focus of attention in a relationship necessarily shifts to the expecting mother. They argue that this is 'received poorly by a large proportion of batterers, who demand continued labour and caretaking from the mother, refuse to increase their own contribution, and feel jealous of her attention to the coming child' (2002, p. 65). The more 'entitled' a man feels, the more difficulty he will have with his partner's pregnancy and in accepting the changes in her life (Bancroft, 2004: 29).

Schorstein (1997) also looked for the reasons why abuse may begin with a woman's pregnancy or with the birth of a child, finding that these include 'the man's sexual jealousy of, and anger towards the unborn child'; an immature personality that is unable to cope with competition for the woman's emotion or time; and the man's fear of the responsibilities the child will bring. Some men attempted to cause an abortion (cited in Radford and Hester, 2006: 30).

Blaming Mothers

Phares argues that mother-blaming is 'a sexist bias toward studying mothers' contributions to child and adolescent maladjustment (while) ignoring similar contributions by fathers' (cited in Jackson and Mannix, 2004: 150). As outlined earlier, the ideology of motherhood provides the basis for mother blaming which seems to be pervasive in the context of domestic violence (Lapierre, 2007: 183). Added to this, concerns about 'abused women's mothering have continuously been raised alongside concerns regarding the situation of children exposed to domestic violence, and these concerns have been articulated within a deficit model of mothering' (Lapierre, 2008: 459).

The common belief that mothers are primarily responsible for any problems that their children have can be exploited by abusive men. Lapierre's study bears this out. The women he interviewed stated that their partners blamed them for the fact that the children were exposed to the violence, with some of these violent men threatening to report their partners to social services for being bad mothers (Lapierre, 2007: I50; Lapierre, 2008a).

The following account illustrates how a perpetrator of domestic violence can use the idea that a woman is a bad mother to threaten her and coerce her into staying in the relationship.

Things had been a little rocky, but after he found out that I was pregnant he changed. He almost acted as if I'd done it on purpose and he was really resentful. The abuse first started when I was six months pregnant and he wanted me to help him push his car. We had a fight and it ended with him calling me a 'fat slut' (etc) and shaking me by the shoulders. This continued until our little boy was born. He progressed from shaking, to slapping, hitting, kicking, punching and putting his hand over my mouth to stop me breathing. He would also call me names like 'c**t', fat b**ch, slut, whore, dog, ugly, useless, lazy.

I was diagnosed with Postnatal Depression but he took away my Zoloft (medication) because he said it made me moody. I tried to overdose myself on them months later, but he stuck his fingers down my throat and then went out. I had a seizure while he was gone, but he didn't help me when he got home.

He threatens me whenever we fight and tells me to move out. Sometimes when I go to leave, he begs me to stay and says that he'll kill himself if I go, or that he'll tell people that I'm a bad mother and I won't see my child again ('Zoe', age 19).⁶

Controlling Domestic Labour and Child Care

As Dobash and Dobash (1998) found, many incidents of abuse develop from arguments over money, housework and/or child care as abusive men seek to gain control over the domestic environment. Ingrid Semaan, who surveyed women about their experiences of mothering in the context of domestic violence, reported that 'most of the men who battered them (also) coerced or forced them to do most of the care work for their children' (2003: 10).

An abusive man may refuse to allow his partner to work outside the home, insisting that she cares for the couple's children rather than placing them in child care. He may overload her with domestic labour and child care, refusing to take on any family responsibilities himself (Bancroft and Silverman, 2002: 32). One woman who experienced this described its effects in the fol-

6 Story sent in to DVRCV website – see footnote 4.

lowing way: 'When I became pregnant the physical abuse started. And he would not help me with our son at all. So I was working, taking care of him, and my sons. It was exhausting. I would never get a hug or a thank you' (from 'Micheala', age 30).⁷

Undermining Maternal Authority

Bancroft and Silverman (2002) have explored some of the deliberate tactics used by violent men to damage a woman's authority as a parent and thus gain power in the home.

A perpetrator's violence and threats communicate to children that their mother's physical integrity need not be respected, providing a behavioural and attitudinal model that teaches children to have a negative view of their mother. The children's image of their mother is further harmed when they hear her blamed for the abuse. The implicit message such children receive is that their mother is responsible because she is stupid, selfish or fails to deter the violence by obeying instructions. This impression that some deficiency in their mother caused the violence is reinforced in the aftermath of violence, a time during which she may be withdrawn, short-tempered or emotionally volatile, while the perpetrator makes jokes and attempts to win the children's loyal-ty (Bancroft and Silverman, 2002: 59).

Emotional abuse, name-calling, intimidation and being subjected to sexual jealousy belittles women in the eyes of their children (Mullender et al, 2002). Added to this, a sustained pattern of insults undermines mothers' authority and respect which they need in order to parent effectively (Holden et al, 1998).

Bancroft and Silverman (2002) also describe deliberate tactics used to control children's perceptions. A perpetrator who observes that children sympathise with their mothers (to whom the children can be a source of strength, validation and social connection) may seek to actively shift the children's allegiances by insulting or ridiculing their mother in front of them. He may tell the children that she does not love them. He may overrule their mother's decisions and so create conflict between mothers and children (p.34).

These strategies can continue after a couple has separated. In their work with perpetrators, the most common behaviour that Bancroft and Silverman observed after separation was perpetra-

7 Story sent in to DVRCV website – see footnote 4.

tors creating 'an atmosphere in their own homes that is largely or entirely lacking in discipline' (2002: 62). At their father's house the children may be allowed to eat whatever they like and stay up late, so that when they return to their mother's home they are resistant to the structure she tries to impose. Such tactics can cause her to appear 'incompetent and ineffective as a parent while the batterer presents to outsiders as able to take charge of children's behaviour appropriately' (Bancroft and Silverman, 2002: 62).

Involving Children in Domestic Violence

An abusive man may also abuse his children as part of his violence towards their mother. Indeed, researchers have noted that it can be difficult to separate men's abuse of their children and of their partners into discrete categories of 'child maltreatment and abuse' and 'domestic violence' (Hester et al., 2007: 54; Kelly (1996) cited in Radford and Hester, 2006: 63) particularly because many of the underlying issues and dynamics of woman abuse and child abuse overlap (Hester, 2006: 107). Hester and Pearson give the example of a father who threatened to drop a six-week-old baby over a balcony in order to prevent the baby's mother leaving him after he had hit her (cited in Radford and Hester, 2006: 63).

Some go to the extreme of murdering their own children. According to Jack Levin, a criminologist and expert in so-called 'family annihilators', these acts are often deliberately planned by men who seek to punish their female partners for leaving: 'He kills his children to get even with his wife because he blames her and he hates her' (cited in Martin, 2006).

A perpetrator can undermine the relationship between a mother and her child by involving the child in his violence towards the mother, for example by making the child witness his assaults on her such as by locking them in the room while they take place (Radford and Hester, 2006: 62). According to Radford and Hester, involving children in the abuse can have 'a profound effect on a woman's feelings about the children and the children's attitudes towards the mother' (p. 32).

The following story, detailing the experience of a woman with a disability, describes how a father used his child as a weapon in his abuse of his partner.⁸

8 This is an edited extract from the full story published on DVRCV's website for women with disabilities, 'A Story About Me' http://www.dvrcv.org.au/ Disability/StoryAboutMe.htm

For much of the first two years of (my child's) life I was in hospital quite ill and he had total responsibility for our son. He also decided when and if I could see him and even for how long. Even though my child could have visited more and for longer, his father decided that it would be once or twice a week and that was all.

(Once) I was home I did get a chance to spend time with our son, as my ex decided to go to work for a while . . . All the same abuses were happening—yelling, lots of put downs, pushing, manipulating me into doing things that I didn't want to do and also trying to keep me from being close to our child.

I began to contemplate a life outside of this marriage. It would take many conversations (with my social worker) and much agony for me to make the final decision to leave, as my fear of not being able to take care of our 3-year-old son was huge. It had been beaten into me verbally that I wasn't capable of caring for [him], and I believed it.

(One day) I'd been at work and the ex normally picked me up from work. However this particular day he didn't, so I got a cab. I arrived home to find him and two friends smoking marijuana and our son outside crying, as he'd climbed on the fence and couldn't get down. He did get him down at my request. We then had a huge argument about this in front of these friends. They thought it might be a good idea to take our son for a couple of hours, but my ex would hear none of that. They left. So there we were, having a screaming match in front of our $3^{1/2}$ year old, not that this was new to him. My ex decided at some time during this argument that he was going to leave. There was only one problem; he was taking our son too. Rather than scare our child, I explained that he and daddy were going on a holiday and he would see mummy soon. My ex packed everything of our son's and left, saying they were going to visit family (interstate). He said I'd never see him again. They left.

Crying and feeling totally distraught, I called the police. They explained, with a limited amount of sympathy, that as there were no custody orders in place I would have to go to the Family Court in the morning and apply for custody. This would then give them the power to go and collect my son, providing they could find him. I felt no comfort in this, just a consuming fear that I'd never see my beautiful little boy again.

Around 3 hours passed and my ex and my son returned. They'd just been down at the local bowling alley the whole time. My ex was joking at my tears and laughing away at how I'd been so frightened. Once again he'd shown me that he could do whatever he liked and there wasn't a thing I could do about it.

How Domestic Violence Affects Mothering

While there is a plethora of literature on the health impacts of domestic violence on women generally, its impact on women's ability to mother their children has only recently attracted research attention as a stand-alone topic.

That domestic violence can have a profound and negative effect on women's physical and psychological health has been well documented (see Access Economics, 2004; VicHealth, 2004a; WHO, 2006). According to the World Health Organization (WHO) 'violence against women is now widely recognised as a serious human rights abuse, and increasingly as an important public health problem with substantial consequences for women's physical, mental, sexual, reproductive health' (2006: 1260). It includes premature death through femicide or suicide, life threatening sexually transmitted infections, death of mother or infant during or following childbirth, physical injuries, effects on reproductive health (e.g. human papilloma virus, complications of pregnancy, miscarriage), injuries that result in physical and/or mental disabilities, and mental health impacts including post-traumatic stress, depression, anxiety, panic attacks, eating disorders, self-harming behaviour, lack of confidence and low self-esteem, harmful substance abuse, sleep problems and gastrointestinal and digestive disorders and chronic pain (VicHealth, 2004a: 21; Radford and Hester, 2006: 21-23). A large-scale Australian study found that the impacts of domestic violence on its victims' health contribute significantly to the social burden of disease (VicHealth, 2004a: II).

What the Research Shows

Research into the effects of domestic violence on mothering provides a mixed picture. Studies reveal that not all mothers who have been abused have a diminished parenting capacity, though they may have difficulty in being engaged and energetic parents (Osofsky, 1998; Margolin (1998) cited in Bancroft and Silverman, 2002: 67; Casaneuva et al, 2008).

How domestic violence affects mothering can depend upon many factors, with one study concluding that variability in the frequency and severity of the violence influenced how much women's parenting was affected by it (Levendosky et al, 2000: 254-255). One incident of violence may not affect a woman's mothering and so she may not report this to a researcher. However, a sustained pattern of abuse over a longer period may negatively affect mothering and it is more likely that a woman will report negative effects on her parenting ability in this context.

Others warn that many studies which have examined women's mothering in the context of domestic violence are of limited use as they are based on small samples and taken of particular populations (such as women residing in domestic violence shelters) (Casaneuva et al., 2008). In addition, most researchers have asked women to self-report on their own mothering.

The following section summarises some of the major research findings.

Maintaining Effective Parenting

Women can manage to mother effectively even when they suffer the severest forms of violence, going to great lengths to counteract its effects on their parenting. A US study based on maternal report and behavioural observations investigated the mediating role of the mother-child relationship on how preschool age children psychologically function in families experiencing domestic violence. It found that some mothers of pre-school-aged children exposed to domestic violence may be more sensitive and responsive to their children than are other parents, although the same study also found that women who were struggling with parenting were experiencing depression and post-traumatic symptoms (Levendosky et al, 2003: 285). An earlier study by Campbell and Soeken (1999) found that children who witnessed domestic violence reported that their mothers were significant sources of support for them.

Based on a study of 1,943 mothers who had been investigated for child maltreatment in the USA, Casanueva et al (2008) report that there were no significant differences in parenting between women who were currently experiencing domestic violence and women who had never experienced domestic violence. Women who had left violent partners had slightly better parenting scores than women who were currently in abusive relationships. In Radford and Hester's research, the majority

of women they interviewed mentioned no ill-effects from the violence on their parenting or on their relationships with their children (2006: p.27).

Stress and Emotional Distance

A US study found that mothers who were themselves the victims of domestic abuse might be inconsistent in their parenting. For example, the abuse could prevent them from maintaining standards of care and lead them to perceive child care as more stressful than was the case for women who were not experiencing domestic violence. In the presence of the violent man, some such mothers have been found to act in punitive ways towards their children (Holden and Richie, 1991).

Domestic violence may lead to a physical or emotional incapacity to mother, and/or to difficulties in caring for children or caring for them adequately. In Abraham's National Children's Home (NCH) Action for Children study, women reported losing their self confidence as mothers, being emotionally drained and with little to give their children, taking out their frustrations on their children, and experiencing an emotional distance between themselves and their children (Abrahams (1994) cited in Hester et al, 2007: 29-30; see also McGee, 2000). Abraham's study found that depression affected the mothering of 76 per cent of the women interviewed. And these feelings and outcomes were compounded by the children's sometimes difficult behaviours (Abrahams (1994) cited in Radford and Hester, 2006: 27). Some women experience depression as a result of the violence, which robs them of energy and self esteem. The numbing aspects of the trauma can lead to mothers being emotionally distant towards their children (Humphreys, 2007).

Holden et al. (1998), using maternal reports, compared the parenting experiences of battered and non-battered women. They found no major differences between the two groups. However, these researchers also reported that 92 per cent of the thirty abused women they interviewed used aggression against their children (compared with 50 per cent of the twenty-eight women who had not been abused) (p. 301). Holden et al. reported that the aggressive behaviour by some women towards their children declined significantly six months after separation if the partner's violence stopped (1998).

Lack of Control

Lapierre's qualitative study of 26 women's experiences of mothering in the context of domestic violence found that women have a diminished sense of control over their mothering and an increased sense of responsibility towards their children (Lapierre, 2007: 153; Lapierre, 2009). The loss of control over mothering is often made worse because of their partners' control of financial and material resources, which left women with few resources to look after their children. Women's sense of responsibility towards their children is partly a result of abusive men's attempts to isolate the mothers. This is compounded by men's lack of interest in the children, or alcohol and drug misuse problems, which meant that women could not rely on their partners for support. In fact to do so could have been risky or damaging for the children (Lapierre, 2008a: 2).

Sleep Problems and Mothering

There are many ways in which domestic violence affects mothers' and children's sleep patterns. Women may need to remain vigilant in the presence of a violent partner, being afraid to sleep deeply lest they be physically and/or sexually attacked (Lowe et al 2007). Humphreys et al's findings (2009) include that in situations of domestic violence mothers organise their sleeping arrangements to make their children feel secure, such as by sleeping with them or being alert to assist them should they wet the bed. Further, they found that the inability to sleep led to a reduction in women's mental and physical resilience, which in turn could impact upon their capacity to mother; and that difficulties in sleeping could continue for years after the relationship had ended, resurfacing at difficult times such as court cases and during child contact.

Children whose sleeping patterns are poor become tired and grumpy and have higher parenting needs. In these researchers' words, 'One has a picture of exhausted mothers attempting to look after over-tired and distressed children in a household where women are also attempting to appease men to prevent them from embarking upon further abuse' (Humphreys et al, 2009: 12).

Effects on the Mother-Child Relationship

Mother-child interactions become complex when women who are traumatised by domestic violence are mothering children who are also traumatised by it.

Domestic violence can negatively affect the bonding and attachment between a mother and her child. This is particularly so after sexual abuse that results in a pregnancy and the birth of a child (Buchanan, 2008; Taft, 2002). In addition, women may unwittingly transmit to their children their own fears relating to the violence they are experiencing. For the mother-infant relationship this can lead to what has been termed 'disorganised attachment': infants perceive their mothers as frightened and therefore as frightening (Buchanan, 2008: 6).

Other research paints a less negative picture about the impact of domestic violence on the mother-child relationship. Some women reported that once they had left the violent man 'they had in fact become closer to their children because of everything they had been through together' (McGee, 2000).

Research also shows that mothers and children are unlikely to speak to each other about the domestic violence they are living with (Abrahams, 1994; McGee, 2000; Mullender et al. (2002) cited in Humphreys, 2007: 9). This suggests that the perpetrator was actively undermining communication between mothers and children. Humphreys and colleagues, who highlight the importance of the non-abusing parent in helping the child cope in the aftermath of domestic violence, designed activity books to help improve communication and strengthen the mother-child relationship (2006a; 2006b).

In addition, when maternal authority is undermined and women lack confidence in their mothering, further difficulties arise. Children may identify with the parent they perceive to have the most power, often the father, rather than their mother. Egged on by him they may assist in the abuse of the mother or attack her mothering directly (Bancroft and Silverman, 2002: 34). Coping with this behaviour on a continuous and daily basis may be a reality for many mothers.

Lapierre's study provides examples of times when mothers had to juggle the needs of their children while also anticipating their partner's demands. For example, living in fear of their partners' next explosion, women often had to keep their chil-

9 Attachment theory, originally developed by John Bowlby, holds that an infant will achieve secure attachment where the mother or primary caregiver provides security and a safe haven for their child through responsive care-giving (Buchanan, 2008: 3).

dren quiet and under control. This meant that they were not always able to prioritise their children's needs (Lapierre, 2007: 163-164).

Another effect of domestic violence is that children who witness, or are involved in it, may exhibit behavioural difficulties with which the mother, as primary caregiver, must deal. The children may blame their mothers for allowing the abuse; they may find it easier to side with their father than their mother. Some women may be dealing with their children directly abusing them, physically and/or emotionally. A recent Australian report has explored male adolescent abuse of mothers. The mothers in this study who had experienced violence from their adolescent sons had also experienced violence from their partners or ex-partners (Howard and Rottem, 2008).

Deciding to Stay or Leave for the Sake of the Children

Despite these negative effects of domestic violence on the mother-child relationship, mothers can find it difficult to leave an abusive partner, as they have to consider where they and their children will live and how they will survive financially. For some women, leaving a husband also carries with it the potential of being ostracised from the wider family, or from a woman's cultural community. Yet if women decide to stay in the relationship, they know that their children will continue to be exposed to violence.

Studies show that recently divorced or separated women are proportionately at greater risk of violence from their former partners than are those still living with their partners (Commonwealth Attorney General's Department, 2001: 9). Some women and/or children are murdered when they leave or attempt to leave. An Australian Institute of Criminology study found that of the 129 family homicides each year, 77 related to domestic violence disputes. Seventy-five per cent of victims were women and 25 per cent of these incidents occurred after separation and divorce (Mouzos and Rushforth, 2003: 2-3).

For some women, the final straw that prompts the decision to leave is when a perpetrator directs his abuse towards the children, or the realisation that living with domestic violence is affecting the children (Keys Young, 1996: 35). However, others

may believe that they will be better able to protect their children by remaining in the relationship. Once a woman has separated from her violent partner she will lack any control over the subsequent father-child relationship — if the children live with the father, or during access and contact visits. Perpetrators of domestic violence can use the children as 'emotional capital' after separation, and pursue visitation or custody as a way of gaining access to their ex-partner (Jaffe et al, 2003). Women may be constantly re-exposed to their former partner through child contact arrangements, so their role as mothers thereby can entrap them in the relationship even after they have left it. Buchbinder and Eisikovits (2004) question earlier research that interprets women staying with violent men as 'entrapment', and leaving as a sign of empowerment. It is not that simple, and in some cases, staying may be a choice and a sign of strength.

Recognising the Range of Maternal Responses

It is not surprising that domestic violence can result in women reporting high levels of stress when parenting and a reduced capacity to provide physical or emotional care for children. However, Radford and Hester warn against focusing on deficiencies in mothering and point to research into mothers' and children's experiences that shows that post separation, many women who have experienced domestic violence enjoy both mothering and emotionally supporting their children (2001: 144-145). These women go to great efforts to create a 'normal' life for their children and protect them from the consequences of the abuse (Radford and Hester, 2006: 43).

However, not all women are affected in the same way and Buchbinder and Eisikovits argue, that some advocates' arguments can seem to forgive 'almost any behaviour of abused women towards their children', glorify abused women's motherhood and exclude wrongdoing from public consciousness (2004: 360). They point out that there is, in fact, significant research evidence that mothers who are battered are inconsistent in their parenting. In the small study they carried out in northern Israel, these researchers found that some women who had suffered domestic violence functioned as mothers in contradictory ways. Some accused Buchbinder and Eisikovits of

making a fuss about 'nothing' where their mothering was concerned. In the narratives the women used to relate their experiences, some used their children to justify both why they had stayed in the violent relationship, and to explain why they had left it, in ways that revealed that the children's interests were secondary to those of the mothers. The women knew that their children were being abused by their violent partners and also knew the high level of risk in the relationship for the children. One woman said:

He abused the kid, cracked his skull when he was two years sold. The child was hospitalized. I said he would kill him. I slept with him [the abuser] and did everything I could to have this kid. I am not going to let him finish him off. But at that time, I still didn't decide to end our relationship; I still had feelings towards him (2004: 361).

To understand why a victim of domestic violence acts as she does requires that professionals have an awareness of the impact of domestic violence, including how it affects a woman's ability to care for her children.

As Buchbinder and Eisikovits write:

There is a need to achieve some kind of balance between blaming abused women too much or too little for parenting practices. When we blame them too much, we bring shame on them and marginalize the violence directed against them, while giving support to the perpetrators. When we blame [them] too little, as Lamb (1996) wrote, 'we make them too small as individuals and reinforce the passivity that was inherent in the experience of victimization' (2004: 365).

When Mothers Abuse their Children

In 1980, Straus, Gelles and Steinmetz found that both mothers and fathers from violent marriages are more likely to be child-abusing parents than are those from non-violent marriages. Later research supports this finding (see Giles-Sims, 1985; Hughes, 1988; Jouriles and Norwood (1995) cited in Tomison, 2000: 2; Ross, 1996).

Walker (2000) concluded from her sample of 453 abused women that they were eight times more likely to hurt their chil-

dren while they were living in a violent relationship than when they were safe from violence (p. 78). More recently, Casanueva and Martin (2007) found that women who have experienced intimate partner violence during pregnancy had a higher child abuse potential than women who have not experienced such violence. Cunningham et al (2007) found women who were abused were at least twice as likely to physically abuse their children; and that depression played a major role in whether victims of domestic violence abused their children.

An Intersectional Analysis

Finding a way to theorise women's abuse of children in the context of domestic violence has been a challenge for feminist researchers.

Damant et al feel 'uneasy about the ways in which radical feminist scholars in the area of domestic violence have addressed issues of child abuse and mothering' (2008: 124), particularly when such scholars explain child abuse committed by women as being merely a defence or a survival strategy that women use when they have little power. Hester et al (2007), for example, have argued that women's violence against their children can at times 'be understood as a means of protecting the children from harsher treatment from their male partners or because of their own sense of frustration or distress (p. 30).

Postmodern feminists such as Featherstone (1996) point out that it is crucial to recognise the complex power relations between women and their children (cited in Damant et al, 2008: 126). 10 Although women often fight for their children's well-being, it cannot always be assumed that they will. Damant et al reject a purely postmodernist feminist approach, saying that 'the physical dimensions of domestic violence, child abuse, and mothering make it impossible to focus solely' on discourse analysis to understand these related phenomena (2008: 128). Instead they argue for an 'intersectional analysis' which takes into account the multiple structural underpinnings of abuse, rather than only that of gender. This approach notices how 'power relations between women/mothers and children' are connected with 'women's identities and multiple systems of oppression' (p. 129) including oppression based on 'age, gender, class, race, sexual orientation, medical condition, etc' (p. 130).

10 Postmodern feminists are interested in the idea that particular historical and cultural discourses construct power relations and subjectivities. They reject the notion that a material reality exists independently of discourse (Damant et al, 2008: 126)

The need for such an approach is starkly illustrated by some Aboriginal women's experiences of violence, which crosses generations and has also been impacted upon by the state. Two women told ethnographer Gillian Cowlishaw (2009) about their experiences of domestic violence and child abuse, in a way that reveals distinctive outcome differences for Aboriginal women and children. Annette's parents both drank. She said that her father was a 'pure alcoholic' who 'didn't treat us good, didn't treat our mother good'. Annette saw her father bashing her mother. Of her father she said 'There was no love there. I wouldn't know what a father's like'. The 'welfare' stepped in because Annette and her siblings were neglected. The children were separated from their parents and from each other. Annette's experiences have left her feeling that she does not now know how to mother her own children: 'I'm treating them ... the same way my parents treated me . . . I love them, but there's something there that's not going deep. It's hard to explain' (p. 81).

The experience of Tina, another Aboriginal woman, was different. She loved and cared for her children, but when her husband broke her leg they were 'taken away' as she physically could not care for them (p. 113). As Cowlishaw writes:

Presumably poverty, an illiterate, poor and sometimes violent, or absent, husband, a black mother whose leg has been broken in a fight with the drunken father, struggling with several children in a condemned dwelling, were conditions judged irredeemable [by authorities], so the children were "saved" and the mother abandoned (p. 122).

'Good Enough' Mothering

As has been noted, perceptions and expectations of mothering can put enormous pressure on women. Contemporary feminists have challenged the dominant conception of the perfect, nurturing and selfless mother who always puts her children's needs before her own. As Rosenberg has argued (1988), 'when mothering is seen only as a natural expression of caring and love, the actual labor involved and the necessary material and emotional resources to care for children remain invisible' (cited in Krane and Davies, 2007: 28).

Some feminist theorists such as Silva have used psychoanalyst Donald Winnicott's concept of the 'good enough' mother (Winnicott, 1953; 1960; 1967) as a useful concept in counteracting women's very high expectations of their mothering and to ease the burden of mother-blaming attitudes. The 'good enough' mother provides mothering that is acceptable rather than 'perfect' and reflects both a diversity in mothering experiences and that mothering can be provided by someone other than a child's mother (Silva, 1996: 2).

Although Winnicott's theory and its value for feminism has been debated, the concept is useful as a way of acknowledging that the standards expected of mothers in normal circumstances are too high even without the adversity of domestic violence.

Research reveals that women's mothering behaviours and actions come under scrutiny when they take their children to see health providers, some of whom have been found to attribute any problems with children to maternal fault (Jackson and Mannix, 2004: 150). As discussed in the later section on professional responses, women who have been subjected to domestic violence tend to be blamed for any negative effects of this on their children. This belief is founded 'on the presumption that a "good mother" knows what is occurring in the family and has some power to stop anything that is harmful' (Jackson and Mannix, 2004: 155).

However, it is puzzling that it is mothering, rather than fathering, which is scrutinised in such cases.

As the following section shows, our society has very different standards for what is considered to be good, or good enough, fathering.

Fathering and Domestic Violence

That a man who perpetrates domestic violence can at the same time be thought a good father to the couple's children flies in the face of common beliefs about quality parenting. Yet this assumption lies behind court and policy decisions that result in violent men being given continuing access to the couple's children post-separation (for more on this, see the later section on Family Law). Those decisions reflect a view that violence towards the children's mother poses no real risk to the children.

Yet little research has been conducted into what kind of parenting such men provide (Edleson and Williams, 2007: 5). This is despite study after study showing that children are affected by domestic violence, whether or not they are themselves directly abused (Edleson and Williams, 2007: 13; Bedi and Goddard, 2007). The current focus in policy and law deems that in most circumstances after a child's parents separate, her or his best interests lie in having an ongoing relationship with both. It is as if, as Eriksson and Hester suggest, 'any involvement by fathers with their children constitutes good-enough fathering' (2001: 791).

UK researchers Featherstone and Peckover argue that some responsibility for poor policy in this regard must be placed at the door of how fathers emerged 'in an unprecedented way' on the policy agenda there in the late 1980s, in a way that constrained understanding about what fathering actually comprises. Child support legislation was designed to make men meet their economic responsibilities towards their children. Unfortunately this constructed fathers primarily as 'providers of cash' rather than as having a wide range of family responsibilities. An opportunity to focus on their fathering more generally thereby slipped by (2007: 188). In addition, governments have been influenced by a blossoming literature on fathers and fatherhood that has often been written by developmental psychologists and which encourages service providers to 'engage fathers' (p. 191). However this literature deals inadequately with matters pertaining to domestic violence.

Australian child abuse expert Emeritus Professor Freda Briggs has recently criticised Australia's Family Court system, in commenting on a case that involved a domestically-violent man who murdered the couple's two children. The Court had given him custody of them every second weekend. Briggs decried as inexcusable, judicial and Family Court staff ignorance about 'child development, domestic violence and sexual abuse'. She argued that judges ignored domestic violence 'because (a) some psychologists tell them that men who bash their wives don't necessarily bash their children and (b) they don't seem to know that witnessing violence is as damaging to children as being a victim of it' (cited in Brown, 2009).

'Fatherhood', as Erikson and Hester argue, 'is still to an overwhelmingly large extent constructed as essentially nonviolent' (2001: 780). Featherstone and Peckover argue that instructions to 'involve fathers' are inadequate in particular situations: it is problematic to suggest that 'father involvement per se is good for children', rather it might be 'deeply counterproductive for women and children' (2007: 189, 190).

It is also necessary to be wary of programs that are designed to involve fathers across the whole range of parenting responsibilities, even though these would appear to hold out the most hope of creating good fathers. In the context of domestic violence, men's participation in providing child care may provide them with further opportunities to abuse.

Until recently, it has been assumed that the men who are most likely to perpetrate violence in the family are those who are most disengaged from playing a full familial role. However one of the few studies available that has examined violent men's fathering cautions otherwise. Lynne Harne studied twenty domestically violent fathers who were separated or divorced and were attending perpetrator programs. Most had contact with their children, regularly looking after them while the children's mothers worked outside the home. Some of these men resented providing this child care and used their time with the children to control and abuse them. Disturbingly, the men were aware that what they were doing comprised child abuse. One described his behaviour with his children in the following way:

If they came home late from school . . . I'd get a bit annoyed if they wouldn't sit and concentrate on their homework, because I thought this was important — and if I actually sat say with 'P' [a five-year old girl] and she was trying to read to me and sometimes I would get a bit annoyed if I thought she wasn't trying —

- Q. So you would hit her?
- A. Yes but it was also more shouting.
- Q. So what effect do [you] think that had on her?
- A. She would just get terrified and curl up in a corner and wouldn't sit on my knee any more (Harne, 2002: 6).

Based on their extensive experience of working with perpetrators, Bancroft and Silverman observe that 'the batterer tends to take an interest in his children when it is convenient for him or when an opportunity arises for public recognition for his fathering' (2002: 32). Many perpetrators of domestic violence are under-involved and neglectful as parents, and when they do become involved, they tend to be rigid and authoritarian (32). One study found that they were more frequently angry with their children than were non-violent fathers, and they smacked their children more than twice as often (Holden and Ritchie 1991). There is now considerable evidence to show that perpetrators of domestic violence are more likely to physically or sexually abuse their children (Bedi and Goddard, 2007).

Researchers have pointed out that effective interventions are needed when a perpetrator of domestic violence has ongoing contact with the couple's children. Stanley (1997) has argued that the child protection focus needs to be redirected from the children's mother to the cause of the problem, to deal with the issue of 'invisible men' (cited in Davies and Krane, 2006: 419). Featherstone and Peckover argue that this requires a shift in thinking, for when violent men are constructed as 'perpetrators' this results in their identities as fathers slipping from view, with serious policy and practice consequences (2007: 181). In contrast, naming them as fathers will direct attention to their fathering and may result in better outcomes for children – though Featherstone and Peckover warn that this will not work in all cases (p. 195).

Eriksson and Hester (2001) point to an interesting contradiction in the way child protection operates. Before separation, it is underpinned by an understanding that parents might harm and abuse children 'and need a set of professionals — social workers — to be vigilant and possibly interventionist on behalf of the state'. However:

In relation to divorce and separation, parents are construed quite differently (even if they may be the same individuals who were

previously dealt with in relation to child protection) ... as generally [being] nice and good for children and also able to communicate quite amiably with one another so that they may negotiate and decide together on arrangements for their children ... The father's behavior may have been recognized as an issue of child protection when the parents were still together or in the process of separating. After separation, however, his persona is no longer necessarily construed as that of child abuser, but primarily as father ... (2001: 786).

Professional Responses

When mothers come to the attention of child protection and other professionals, the possibility that their mothering has been affected by domestic violence must be considered, for, as Hester et al argue, it may be the physical and emotional effects of such violence that make women appear to be 'inadequate or unable to cope' as mothers. With support and in a safe environment, they can resume parenting their children (2007: 29).

Thorpe (1996) notes that welfare workers often lack the resources to deal with violent fathers and so 'shift their attention to mothers' (cited in Jackson and Mannix, 2004: 156). This focus can lead to a victim-blaming approach. In reality, such matters as poor mental health and substance misuse may better be conceptualised in some cases as symptoms of the abuse (Humphreys and Thiara, 2003; 2005).

Radford and Hester argue that even where domestic violence is recognised by those working with those affected by it, 'an overemphasis on women's behaviour as victims' encourages the view that what such women need is more treatment. This precludes from consideration 'perpetrators' actions, the wider social and political control of women and, most importantly, how women cope with abuse on a daily basis and, in most cases, overcome it' (2006, pp. 16-17).

In this section, we will briefly explore what the research literature says about the systemic responses of professionals within the realms of child protection and family law to mothers who have been abused by their male partners or ex-partners. First, we will look at evidence about how men who perpetrate violence can use these systems to their advantage to engage in mother blaming and paint the woman as a poor, inadequate or failed mother. Then, we will examine research and practice-based literature which outlines some of the unhelpful and helpful responses to women in this situation.

How Violent Men use Systems to their Advantage

The effects of the mother-blaming tactics used by violent men can be exacerbated when those who work in the service system hold women almost solely accountable for their children's wellbeing — even when a partner's abuse of them has affected the children. In Radford and Hester's words, abused mothers can be denigrated 'in family courts, child protection agencies or as the result of the activities by the media and fathers' rights groups' (2006: 8).

The period after separation highlights some of these problems. McInness suggests that:

... system responses to women fleeing violence can compound their situation, particularly when their children become the target and means of abuse and control by ex-partners using the Family Court system. Homelessness, acute poverty, lack of legal aid and continuing exposure to post-separation violence are some common issues facing women who flee violence with their children (2002: 23-26).

Some men find it easy to use adversarial systems to their advantage, for example by reporting their wives/partners to child protection for being poor mothers. Some of the women interviewed by Rendell et al reported that their ex-partners made continual court applications as a way of harassing them or making them run out of legal aid funding (2000: 38).

Family Law

Despite increasing community awareness of the prevalence of family violence, women who are victims of violence have faced new challenges due to recent shifts in community attitudes and changes to family law.

Helen Rhoades (2002) argues that a new 'stock story' has emerged, one that is widely promoted in the media and echoed in shifts in policy and law. This is the story of the 'no-contact' mother who selfishly uses her maternal power to deny contact between children and their fathers. A Victorian survey of community attitudes found that almost half of all respondents agreed that 'women going through custody battles often make up claims of domestic violence to improve their case' (VicHealth, 2006: 24).

Fathers' rights groups have had a significant influence on community attitudes and on reforms to family law (Kirkwood, 2007; Flood, 2007). In a discussion of the influence and

motivations of these groups, Michael Flood argues that 'some fathers' rights groups seem more concerned with re-establishing paternal authority and fathers' decision-making related to their children's and ex-partners' lives than with actual involvements with children' (2007: 7).

In Australia, the Family Reform Law Act 1995 placed a child's right to have contact with both parents as a priority. In 2006 further reforms were introduced by the Howard government, through the Family Law (Shared Parental Responsibility) Act 2006. These included a legal presumption of equal shared parental responsibility after separation. Where such an order is made, there must be a consideration of equal parenting time or substantial and significant time. The presumption does not apply where there are 'reasonable' grounds to believe there has been family violence or child abuse.

The 2006 Act created a system of primary and additional considerations for determining what is in a child's best interests. The two primary considerations are: (a) the benefit to the child of having a meaningful relationship with both parents; and (b) the need to protect the child from physical or psychological harm from being subjected to, or exposed to, abuse, neglect or family violence (Section 60CC of the Act).

The additional considerations include: views expressed by the child; the willingness and ability of each parent to facilitate and encourage a close and continuing relationship between the child and the other parent; and family violence involving the child or a member of the child's family.

DVRCV and others have raised concerns that the primary considerations are in conflict when violence or abuse has occurred (Kirkwood, 2007: I2). In these cases it is difficult to protect a child from harm while also allowing them to maintain a meaningful relationship with an abusive parent. Nor is there a definition of what a 'meaningful' relationship entails.

Further, the new Act requires the court to consider a parent's willingness and ability to facilitate a close relationship between the child and the other parent when deciding what is in the best interests of children (the so-called 'friendly-parent' provision). According to a report in the *Sydney Morning Herald* (6 May, 2009) the Chief Justice of the Family Court, Diana Bryant, has called for this part of the Act to be removed because it appears to be dissuading women from raising allegations of

domestic violence for fear of being considered 'unfriendly' (Horin, 2009).

Dangerous consequences can flow from such a pro-contact culture. A 2007 report by the Australian Institute of Family Studies, which examined 300 court files (from before the implementation of the 2006 reforms), found that more than half of the cases contained allegations of adult family violence and/or child abuse (Moloney et al, 2007). The review found that even though allegations of violence were common and often serious, they had only minimal impact on court-sanctioned parenting outcomes. It was unusual for contact between a child and a parent to be denied. Orders for overnight contact predominated, even when there were allegations of violence and regardless of the apparent severity of the violence. Where there was supporting evidence of violence, the court was still likely to order significant contact, but in these cases it was often restricted to daytime only.

Shea Hart and Bagshaw (2008) also found that family violence has been ignored by Family Courts in Australia. They undertook an in-depth discourse analysis of twenty unpublished Family Court judgments in cases involving allegations of domestic violence. In most of these the father's history of domestic violence or child abuse was ignored. The judgments placed more emphasis on the harm to children because of being deprived of contact with fathers, than on the harm to children due to exposure to violence. In the majority of the cases violent partners were described as 'loving' fathers. There was 'scant reference to or information about fathers' parenting skills or their capacity to parent' (2008: 299). In contrast, women were perceived to be vindictive towards their ex-partners, and to be misusing their maternal authority to alienate their children from their fathers. Shea Hart and Bagshaw reported that 'Mothers' legitimate concerns about the potential influence of violence on their children appeared to be discounted in the majority of cases' (2008: 297). Mothers were expected to maintain emotional ties between fathers and children, while also ensuring that their children were protected from violence. In the small number of cases where mothers had entered into 'consent' agreements in relation to father-child contact, these mothers were criticised for failing in their responsibility to protect their children from the violent behaviour of the fathers. According to Shea Hart and Bagshaw, these competing demands placed victims of domestic violence in a 'no- win' situation (2008: 298).

It appears that in family law, the parenting skills of mothers are under greater scrutiny than are those of fathers. Researchers who studied child contact arrangements in the UK and Denmark found that a father who 'merely expressed an interest in seeing his child was usually seen to be a "good enough father" (Hester and Radford (1996) cited in Rendell et al, 2000: 30). However, as Rendell et al (2000) argue, mothers are assessed differently. Based on an Australian survey of residential parents and welfare and legal practitioners, they conclude:

A mother is often assessed on her parenting skills by experts in the family law system at exactly the time she is trying to establish herself and her children in a new way of life. She is stressed and distressed. Further, usually during the process of family law cases, there is some kind of contact arrangement in place. It may be an arrangement which the woman considers unsafe for the children but with which she is obliged to comply, knowing that her attitude towards contact is under direct scrutiny. The woman soon discovers that separation from the violent man has not protected her children from his violence, as she had hoped. Instead it has exposed them to it — alone — without her potential protective presence (p. 28).

Research from the US suggests that the recent Australian reforms are likely to exacerbate the existing problems in family law when dealing with domestic violence. The Australian family law reforms were influenced by US legislation, including the mandate of shared parental responsibility and the 'friendly-parent' requirement. A recent review of child custody and visitation decisions in cases of domestic violence in six US states found that, even when states had a presumption against giving custody to a perpetrator of domestic violence, the effectiveness of this was 'severely undermined . . . by competing statutes—specifically, a presumption in favor of joint custody (with a weak exception for domestic violence) and a friendly parent provision' (Morrill et al, 2005: 1101).

Child Protection

In Australia, Cathy Humphreys undertook a review of child protection responses to domestic violence finding that the child protection system in a number of states is in danger of being overwhelmed by referrals of children affected by it (2007b). This is primarily because of recent changes to mandatory reporting criteria which, in many states, now includes the requirement to notify children affected by domestic violence to child protection.

In situations of domestic violence mothers may come to the attention of child protection workers for 'failing to protect' their children from a man's violence and this can also be a time when their mothering is viewed with suspicion. When violent men remain in the family, social work or child protection procedures may be invoked. Women often become the centre of attention: their ability to be protective is a key aspect of the assessment (Calder et al, 2004; Edleson (1999) cited in Hester, 2006: 145). Social workers are engaged 'in the detection and rehabilitation of "risky" mothering in order to transform women into the needed "mother-protectors" of children', in a context in which child protection workers 'are burdened with bureaucratic tasks and administrative duties and have little face-to-face contact with the families on their caseloads' and strict timeframes for assessment to take place (Davies and Krane, 2006: 414-5).

This was the focus of child protection practice during the 1990s. It meant that the onus was on women to 'aggressively protect' their children, and there was a push for them to leave the violent man or have their children accommodated elsewhere (Hester et al, 2007: 167). This philosophy has been (and still is) taken to extremes in some states of the US, where women have been charged for failing to protect their children under child abuse, child neglect or child endangerment statutes. Women may be criminally prosecuted for not leaving their abusive partners and so securing their children's safety (White et al, 2005: I). This sends a clear social message that women are responsible for protecting their children from a man's abuse.

Themes drawn from a recent Australian forum support this view that women's mothering is still the major cause for concern. Participants at the Domestic Violence and Child Protection forum of workers held by Women's House Shelta in Queensland noted that the pretext for removing children from their mothers was often that the mother had 'failed to protect her children' or had 'participated in domestic violence' (Women's House Shelta, 2009: 4). Participants also noted that men remain invisible in practice and discourse surrounding child protection with most child protection interventions focusing on mothers (Women's House Shelta, 2009: 7).

Humphreys argues that the traditional focus on the child in statutory child protection interventions has created 'a practice which has had a tendency towards "mother-blaming" where there is family violence' (2007a).

According to Davies and Krane (2006), a 'structural problem lies at the heart of the statutory child protection response to children affected by domestic violence'. When there are both adult and child victims of violence in one family, child protection services 'have generally not been set up to manage this complexity' (cited in Humphreys, 2007: 7). Rather, the primary role of child protection services is to protect children and intervene where abuse has occurred or is alleged.

Burke (1999) suggests a useful framework for dealing with cases of domestic violence by taking a hierarchy of considerations into account when working with those who are its victims and with the perpetrators. These are first, the safety and protection of children; second, empowerment and safety for women; and third, responsibility and accountability of the perpetrators of the violence. However Humphreys argues that in practice the first principle will always override the second, which means that women's safety and empowerment will never be prioritised (2007b: 7). A solution to this is to support the non abusing parent (normally the mother) and help her to strengthen the mother-child relationship, which will in turn protect the child (Humphreys 2006a, 2006b, 2007a; Humphreys et al., 2006). Intervention must recognise that, where there is domestic violence, good child protection involves good protection of women and support for the mother-child relationship (Humphreys, 2007a).

Buchbinder and Eisikovits (2004) share the view that mothers, as the non-abusing parent, should be supported to care for their children. Further to this, they argue that empowering

women should also mean encouraging self-reflection and responsibility for parenting practices.

Practitioners should be able to foster simultaneously women's understanding of the structural oppression resulting from gender violence, as it impacts on the woman's ability to function in her various roles, and the assumption of personal responsibility for the quality and level of her functioning. In balancing the needs and rights of women with those of their children, we may be able to operationalize empowerment for both parties (p. 365).

There also needs to be a concurrent focus on the perpetrator that addresses his violence. Like others, Humphreys draws attention to the invisibility of the perpetrator and the minimisation of domestic violence within child protection practice (2007b). Her 1999 analysis of child protection case files from the UK resulted in several important findings, that:

- formal reports to child protection failed to mention domestic violence — despite this being the reason for the referral or part of the investigation;
- serious domestic violence was reported but it was called something else (such as 'family conflict' or 'marital argument');
- issues other than domestic violence were named as being the problem (such as mental health, neglect or substance misuse);
- the woman's abuse (of the children) was seen as being equal to, or greater than, the man's – despite evidence in the case file that suggested the opposite; and
- the perpetrator's actions were rendered invisible by his lack of involvement in the assessment (Humphreys, 2007b: 8).

Featherstone and Peckover (2007) argue that 'as part of offering better interventions to women and children, men as fathers need to engaged with also' because often women are left to manage violent men's behaviour and the consequences of it on their children (p. 197). A focus on fathering offers a way for practitioners to engage men, and offers possibilities for men to develop non-violent fathering and relationships. This may work 'not for all, but for some' (p.196).

Talking Points

Among the points raised by the research discussed in this Paper, several require further discussion and action. These include:

- What research needs to be undertaken to more fully understand the effects of domestic violence on women and their mothering in order that systemic responses to that violence can change?
- How can children's wellbeing best be assured in the context of domestic violence?
- How can children and mothers who live with domestic violence be assisted to communicate with each other, particularly given evidence that a strong relationship between a child and a non-abusing parent is reparative for such children?
- What responses are most likely to foster supportive relationships for these children with the non-abusive parent, over both short- and long-term timespans? What changes are needed in child protection and family law processes to facilitate this?
- In the context of domestic violence, how can we develop an environment in which mothers can be assisted to understand and acknowledge times when they have failed their children or have made decisions that have led to harm towards them, without blaming them for the violence perpetrated against the children by partners?
- How can those working in child protection, family law and other systems be encouraged to learn what is actually happening within the families with which they come into contact, for example by directly asking whether domestic violence is an issue and how it is affecting parenting?
- How can the focus on women-and-mothering be turned around, to make men's behaviour and their fathering visible?
- How do agencies and courts that work from an ideal of a child's right to equal contact with both parents, hold perpetrators of domestic violence accountable for the effects of that violence on children and the mother-child relationship?
- How can men who perpetrate domestic violence against a child's mother be deemed a 'good' or 'good enough' father?

- If children continue to be placed in contact care with violent men, how can the risk to those children and their mothers be assessed and their safety best be assured?
- Can effective programs be developed to assist perpetrators of domestic violence to take responsibility for the impact of it and become caring and responsible fathers to their children?

Conclusion

This paper has shown how some men trap women in violent relationships by using the mothering role to exercise control over them both during the relationship and post-separation, through particular strategies of abuse.

While many women show great resilience to these, continuing to mother their children well in such adverse circumstances, others are further entrapped due to the impacts of the domestic violence on them. They may suffer stress, poor mental health and/or substance abuse. Their self-esteem and confidence in their mothering may be poor. Some may be faced with damaging behaviour from children who side with the perpetrator against them, at the extreme being physically abused by their children.

When a relationship ends, the domestic abuse can continue under other guises. Some women are engaged in apparently endless and difficult litigation that impoverishes them emotionally and materially. Children are used as emotional capital through child contact and handover. Furthermore, some male perpetrators use the social expectations around motherhood in professional and adversarial systems to their advantage, engaging in mother blaming that masks their own involvement in the difficulties these women face as mothers.

The challenge we face is to develop responses to domestic violence that attend to the safety and wellbeing of women and their children, support mothers in their parenting role, and rebuild a positive mother-child relationship where necessary. Such a response will confront perpetrators with their use of violence and the effects that it has on mothering and the mother-child relationship as well as on their own relationships with their children. It will make abusive fathers the focus of attention.

A child's relationship with his or her father rarely ends with parental separation, even when the father has perpetrated domestic violence. Often children (and their mothers) want fathers to remain involved in their lives. The objective of interventions must therefore be to ensure that a perpetrator of domestic violence comes to take responsibility for the impact of his abuse on his partner, and on his relationship with his children. And interventions should be evaluated according to whether or not they succeed in this.

References

- Abrahams, H. (1994), The hidden victims: Children and domestic violence, NCH Action for Children, London
- Access Economics (2004), *The cost of domestic violence to the Australian economy: Part 1* Partnerships against domestic violence, Access Economics, Canberra (http://accesseconomics.com.au/publicationsreports/getreport.php? report=23&id=27, accessed 16 July, 2009)
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) (2005), *Personal safety survey Australia*, Catalogue no. 4906.0, AGPS, Canberra (http://www.ausstats.abs.gov.au/ausstats/subscriber.nsf/0/056A404DAA576AE 6CA2571D00080E985/\$File/49060_2005%20(reissue).pdf, accessed 1 August, 2009)
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) (2007), *Australian social trends. Women's experience of partner violence*, Catalogue no. 4102.0, AGPS, Canberra (http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/0/ADE8C301B6BA85ABCA25732C 00207E92?opendocument accessed 1 August 2009)
- Bagshaw, D., Chung, D., Couch, M., Lilburn, S., and Wadham, B. (1999), Reshaping responses to domestic violence: Executive summary, Partnerships Against Domestic Violence, Commonwealth Government, Canberra
- Bagshaw, D. and Chung, D. (2000), *Women, men, and domestic violence*, University of South Australia, Adelaide
- Bancroft, L. (2004), When dad hurts mom: Helping children heal the wounds of witnessing abuse, Berkley Books, New York
- Bancroft, L. and Silverman, J.G. (2002), *The batterer as parent: Addressing the impact of domestic violence on family dynamics*, Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, California
- Bedi, G. and Goddard, C. (2007), 'Intimate partner violence: What are the impacts on children?', Australian Psychologist, vol. 42, no.1, pp. 66-77
- Brown, Jen Jewel, 'Suffer the little children', Sunday Age, 3 May 2009
- Buchanan, F. (2008), 'Mother and infant attachment theory and domestic violence: Crossing the divide', *Stakeholder Paper 5*, Australian Domestic and Family Violence Clearinghouse, University of NSW, Sydney
- Buchbinder, E. and Eisikovits, Z. (2004), 'Reporting bad results: The ethical responsibility of presenting abused women's parenting practices in a negative light', *Child and Family Social Work*, vol. 9, pp. 359-367
- Burke, C. (1999), 'Redressing the balance: Child protection intervention in the context of domestic violence', in J. Breckenridge and L. Laing (Eds), Challenging silence: Innovative responses to sexual and domestic violence, Allen & Unwin, St Leonards, NSW
- Campbell, J. and Soeken, K. L. (1999), 'Women's responses to battering: A test of the model', *Research in Nursing and Health*, vol. 22, pp. 49-58
- Campbell, J.C., Woods, A.B., Laughon Chouaf, K. and Parker, B., (2000), 'Reproductive health consequences of intimate partner violence', *Clinical Nursing Research*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 217-237
- Casanueva, C. and Martin, S.L. (2007), 'Intimate partner violence during pregnancy and mothers' child abuse potential', *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, vol. 22, no. 5, pp. 603-622
- Casanueva, C., Martin, S.L., Runyan, D.K., Barth, R.P. and Bradley, R.H. (2008), 'Quality of maternal parenting among intimate-partner violence victims involved with the child welfare system', *Journal of Family Violence*, vol. 23, pp. 413-427

- Commonwealth Attorney General's Department (2001), Young people and domestic violence: National research on young people's attitudes and experiences of domestic violence, Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra
- Council of Single Mothers and their Children, Victoria (CSMC) (2004), 'Statistics and facts – Single mothers in Australia, *Briefing Paper*, 26 May
- Cowlishaw, G. (2009), *The city's outback*, University of New South Wales Press, Sydney
- Cummings, E. and Katona, M. (1995), *Aboriginal family violence: A report to the Northern Territory government*, Office of Women's Affairs, Department of the Chief Minister, Darwin
- Cunningham, S., Elliott, G., Cole, D. (2007), 'Intimate partner violence and women's physical abuse of their children the role of depression as a mediator', paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Sociological Association, New York City, 11 Aug, 2007 (http://www.allacademic.com/meta/p183151_index.html, accessed 27 August, 2009)
- Damant, D., Lapierre, S., Kouraga, A., Fortin, A., Hamelin-Brabant, L., Lavergne, C. and Lessard, G. (2008), 'Taking child abuse and mothering into account: Intersectional feminism as an alternative for the study of domestic violence' Affilia, vol. 23, pp. 123-133
- Davies, L. and Krane, J. (2006), 'Collaborate with caution: Protecting children, helping mothers', *Critical Social Policy*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 412-425
- de Vaus, D. Gray, M., Qu, L. and Stanton, D. (2009), 'The effect of relationship breakdown on income and social exclusion', paper presented to the Australian Social Policy Conference An inclusive society? Practicalities and possibilities, Social Policy Research Centre, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia, 8 July, (http://www.aifs.gov.au/institute/pubs/papers/2009/devaus.pdf accessed 27 August, 2009)
- DiQuinzio, P. (1999), The impossibility of motherhood: Feminism, individualism, and the problem of mothering, Routledge, New York
- Dobash, R.E. and Dobash, R. (1998), 'Violent men and violent contexts', in R. Dobash and R. Dobash (Eds), *Re-thinking violence against women*, Sage, London
- Dobash, R.E. and Dobash, R. (2000), 'The politics and policies of responding to violence against women', in J. Hammer, C. Itzin, S. Quaid and D. Wigglesworth (Eds), *Home truths about domestic violence*, Routledge, London
- Domestic Violence and Incest Resource Centre (DVIRC) (1998), When love hurts (http://dvrcv.org.au/whenlove, accessed 30 July 2009)
- Edleson, J.L. and Williams, O.J. (2007), 'Introduction: Involving men who batter in their children's lives', in Jeffrey L. Edleson and Oliver J. Williams (Eds), *Parenting by men who batter: New directions for assessment and intervention*, Oxford, Oxford University Press
- Eriksson, M. and Hester, M. (2001), 'Violent men as good-enough fathers? A look at England and Sweden', *Violence Against Women*, vol. 7, pp. 779-798
- Evans, I. (2007), Battle-scars: Long-term effects of prior domestic violence, Centre for Women's Studies and Gender Research
- Featherstone, B. and Peckover, S. (2007), 'Letting them get away with it: Fathers, domestic violence and child welfare', *Critical Social Policy*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 181-202
- Flood, M. (2007), 'Supporting separated fathers and encouraging men's positive involvement in parenting', paper presented to The Field of Fatherhood: Crossings of the Terrain Conference, Hawke Institute for Sustainable Societies, University of South Australia, June 19 (http://www.unisa.edu.au/hawkeinstitute/documents/SeparatedFathers.pdf, accessed 1 August, 2009)

- Fraser, K. (2003), 'Domestic violence and women's physical health', Australian Domestic & Family Violence Clearinghouse Topic Paper (http://www.adfvc.unsw.edu.au/PDF%20files/physical_health.pdf, accessed 1 February 2009)
- Harne, L. (2002), 'Childcare, violence and fathering Are violent father who look after their children, likely to be less abusive?', paper given at Poverty, violence and women's rights: Setting a global agenda international conference, 3-7 July, James Cook University, Townsville
- Hester, M. (2006), 'Asking about domestic violence Implications for practice', in C. Humphreys and N. Stanley, *Domestic violence and child protection*, Jessica Kingsley Publishers, London
- Hester, M., Pearson, C., Harwin, N., Abrahams, H. (2007), *Making an impact: children and domestic violence*, Jessica Kingsley Publishers, London
- Holden, G. and Richie, K. (1991), 'Linking extreme marital discord, child rearing and child behaviour problems: Evidence from battered women', *Child Development*, vol. 62, pp. 311-332
- Holden, G., Stein, J. Ritchie, K., Harris, S., and Jouriles, E. (1998), 'Parenting behaviors and beliefs of battered women' in G. Holden, R. Geffner, and E. Jouriles (Eds.), *Children exposed to marital violence: Theory, research, and applied issues*, American Psychological Association, Washington, D.C.
- Horin, A. (2009), 'Judge Calls for Urgent Changes to Family Law', Sydney Morning Herald, 6 May (http://www.smh.com.au/national/judge-calls-for-urgent-changes-to-family-law-20090501-aq6f.html, accessed 30 July, 2009)
- Howard, J. and Rottem, N. (2008), *It all starts at home: Male adolescent violence to mothers*, Inner South Community Health Service Inc. and Child Abuse Research Australia, Monash University
- Humphreys, C. and Thiara, R. (2003), 'Mental health and domestic violence: "I call it symptoms of abuse"', *British Journal of Social Work*, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 209-226
- Humphreys, C. and Thiara, R. (2005), 'Domestic violence and substance abuse: Tackling complexity', *British Journal of Social Work*, vol. 35, pp. 1303-1320.
- Humphreys, C., Mullender, A., Thiara, R., and Skamballis, A. (2006), "'Talking to my mum': Developing communication between mothers and children in the aftermath of domestic violence", *Journal of Social Work*, vol. 6, no. 1, 53-63
- Humphreys, C, Thiara, R.K., Skamballis, A. and Mullender, A. (2006a), *Talking about domestic abuse: A photo activity workbook to develop communication between mothers and young people*, Jessica Kingsley Publishers, London
- Humphreys, C, Thiara, R.K., Skamballis, A. and Mullender, A. (2006b), *Talking about domestic abuse: A picture workbook for workers, mothers and children affected by domestic abuse*, Jessica Kingsley Publishers, London
- Humphreys, C. (2007a), 'Tackling domestic and family violence: Balancing aspirations and action', Keynote presentation, Centre for Research on Community and Children's Services conference, Airlie Beach, 4 August 2007
- Humphreys, C. (2007b), *Domestic violence and child protection: Challenging the directions for practice,* Issues Paper 13, Australian Domestic & Family Violence Clearinghouse, University of NSW, Sydney
- Humphreys, C. (2007c), "'Talking to my mum': Strengthening relationships between mothers and children in the aftermath of family violence", *Social Work Now: The Practice Journal of Child, Youth and Family*, September, pp. 9-11
- Humphreys, C., Lowe, P., Williams, S. (2009), 'Sleep and domestic violence: Exploring the interconnections between mothers and children', *Child and Family Social Work*, vol. 14, no. 1, February, pp. 6-14

- Jackson, D. and Mannix, J. (2004), 'Giving voice to the burden of blame: A feminist study of mothers' experiences of mother blaming', *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, vol. 10, pp. 150-158
- Jaffe, P.G., Lemon, N.K.D., and Poisson, S.E. (2003), Child custody and domestic violence: a call for safety and accountability, Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks. California
- Jennings, C. (2003), *Triple disadvantage: Out of sight, out of mind*, Violence Against Women with Disabilities Project, Domestic Violence and Incest Resource Centre, Melbourne
- Keel, M. (2004), 'Family violence and sexual assault in Indigenous communities: "Walking the talk"', ACSSA Briefing No. 4, Australian Centre for the Study of Sexual Assault, Australian Institute of Family Studies, Melbourne
- Kelly, L. (1994), The interconnectedness of domestic violence and child abuse: Challenges for research, policy and practice, in A. Mullender and R. Morley (Eds), *Children living with domestic violence*, pp. 43-56, Whiting and Birch Ltd. London.
- Keys Young (1996), Against the odds: How women survive domestic violence, Office of the Status of Women, Canberra.
- Kirkwood, D. (2007), 'Behind closed doors: Family dispute resolution and family violence', *Discussion Paper No. 6*, Domestic Violence and Incest Resource Centre, Melbourne
- Krane, J. and Davies, L. (2007), 'Mothering under difficult circumstances: Challenges to working with battered women', *Affilia*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 23-38
- Lapierre, S. (2007), Taking the blame? Women's experiences of mothering in the context of domestic violence, unpublished doctoral thesis, University of Warwick, Coventry
- Lapierre, S. (2008a), 'Taking the blame? Women's experiences of mothering in the context of domestic violence', *Safe: The Domestic Abuse Quarterly*, vol. 25, pp. 4-7
- Lapierre, S. (2008b), 'Mothering in the context of domestic violence: The pervasiveness of a deficit model of mothering', *Child and Family Social Work*, vol 13, no. 4, pp. 454-463
- Lapierre, S. (2009), 'More responsibilities, less control: Understanding the challenges and difficulties involved in mothering in the context of domestic violence', *British Journal of Social Work, Advance Access published online 7 July, 2009,* doi:10.1093/bjsw/bcp080
- Letourneau, N.L., Fedick, C.B. and Willms, J.D. (2007), 'Mothering and domestic violence: A longitudinal analysis, *Journal of Family Violence*, vol. 22, pp. 649-659
- Levendosky, A.A., Huth-Bocks, A.C., Shapiro, D.L., and Semel, M.A. (2003), 'The impact of domestic violence on the maternal-child relationship and preschool-age children's functioning', *Journal of Family Psychology*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 275-287
- Levendosky, A.A., Lynch, S.M., and Graham-Bermann, S.A. (2000), 'Mothers' perceptions of the impact of woman abuse on their parenting', *Violence Against Women*, vol. 6, no. 3, March, pp. 247-271
- Levendosky, A. A. and Graham-Bermann, S.A. (2001), 'Parenting in battered women: the effects of domestic violence on women and their children', *Journal of Family Violence*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 171-192
- Lowe, P., Humphreys, C. and Williams, S. J. (2007), 'Night terrors: Women's experiences of (not) sleeping where there is domestic violence', *Violence Against Women*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 549-561

- Magen, R. H. (1999), 'In the best interests of battered women: Reconceptualizing allegations of failure to protect', *Child Maltreatment*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 127-135
- Martin, L. (2006) 'Fathers who kill their children', The Observer, November 5, 2006 (http://www.guardian.co.uk/uk/2006/nov/05/ukcrime.lornamartin, accessed 30 July 2009)
- MacDonald, H. (1998) 'What's in a Name? Definitions and Domestic Violence'.

 Discussion Paper 1, Domestic Violence & Incest Resource Centre, Melbourne
- McCloskey, L.A. Figueredo, A.J. and Koss, M.P. (1995), The effects of systemic family violence on children's mental health. *Child Development*, vol. 66, pp. 1239-1261
- McCosker-Howard, H. and Woods, A.B. (2006), 'How is intimate partner abuse experienced by childbearing women?', in Roberts, G., Hegarty, K. and Feder, G. (Eds), (2006), *Intimate partner abuse and health professionals: New approaches to domestic violence*, Elsevier Limited, Edinburgh
- McGee, C. (2000), *Childhood experiences of domestic violence*, Jessica Kingsley Publishers, London
- McInnes, E. (2002), 'Single mothers and system responses to violence against women and children', *STATEing Women's Health*, June, pp. 23-26
- Miller, E., Decker, M R., Reed, E. Raj, A, Hathaway, J E., Silverman, J G. (2007), 'Male partner pregnancy-promoting behaviors and adolescent partner violence: Findings from a qualitative study with adolescent females', *Ambulatory Pediatrics*, vol. 7, issue 5, pp. 360-366
- Mirrlees-Black, C. (1999), Domestic violence: Findings from the BCS selfcompletion questionnaire, Home Office Research Study 191, Home Office, London
- Moloney, L., Smyth, B., Weston, R., Richardson, N., Qu, L., and Gray, M. (2007), Allegations of family violence and child abuse in family law children's proceedings: A pre-reform exploratory study, Research Report 15, Australian Institute of Family Studies, Melbourne
- Morrill, A. C., Dai, J., Dunn, S., Sung, I. and Smith, K. (2005), 'Child custody and visitation decisions when the father has perpetrated violence against the mother', Violence Against Women, vol. 11, no. 8, pp. 1076-1107
- Morris, A. (1999a), 'Maternal alienation: The use of mother blaming in abuse', *Australian Journal of Primary Health*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 71-75
- Morris, A. (1999b), 'Uncovering "maternal alienation" a further dimension of violence against women', Department of Social Inquiry, Adelaide University, South Australia
- Morris, A. (2004), 'The story of naming 'maternal alienation': New research enters the world of policy and practice', paper presented at the Home Truths Conference, 15-17 September, Melbourne (http://www.thelizlibrary.org/liz/maternal-alienation.doc, accessed 16 July 2009)
- Mouzos, J. and Rushforth, C. (2003), 'Family homicide in Australia', *Trends and issues in crime and criminal justice*, Australian Institute of Criminology, Canberra
- Mullender, A. and Morley, R. (1994) *Children living with domestic violence:*Putting men's abuse of women on the child care agenda, Whiting and Birch

 Ltd, London
- Mullender, A., Hague, G., Imam, U., Kelly, L., Malos, E. and Regan, L. (2002), Children's perspectives on domestic violence, Sage Publications, London
- Osofsky, J.D. (1998), 'Perspectives: Children are the silent victims of domestic violence and chronic community violence', *APSAC Advisor*, vol. 11, no. 2

- Radford, L. and Hester, M. (2001), 'Overcoming mother blaming? Future directions for research on mothering and domestic violence, in S.A. Graham-Bermann and J.L. Edleson (Eds) *Domestic violence in the lives of children:*The future of research, intervention, and social policy, American Psychological Association, Washington, D.C.
- Radford, L. and Hester, M. (2006), *Mothering through domestic violence*, Jessica Kingsley Publishers, London
- Rendell, K., Rathus, Z. and Lynch, A., (2000), *An unacceptable risk: A report on child contact arrangements where there is violence in the family*, Women's Legal Service, Brisbane
- Rhoades, H. (2002), 'The "no contact mother": Reconstructions of motherhood in the era of the "new father", *International Journal of Law, Policy and the Family*, vol. 16, pp. 71-94
- Ross, S. (1996), 'Risk of physical abuse to children of spouse abusing parents', Child Abuse and Neglect, vol. 20, pp. 589-598
- Schorstein, S. (1997), *Domestic violence and health care*, Sage, Thousand Oaks, California
- Semaan, I. (2003), 'Subjection, subjectivity and agency: The meaning and practice of mothering within the context of domestic violence', Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Sociological Association, Atlanta Hilton Hotel, Atlanta (http://www.allacademic.com/meta/p107265_index.html, accessed 17 June, 2009)
- Shea Hart, A. and Bagshaw, D. (2008), 'The idealised post-separation family in Australian family law: A dangerous paradigm in cases of domestic violence', *Journal of Family Studies*, vol. 14, nos 2-3, pp. 291-309
- Silva, E. B. (1996), Good enough mothering? Feminist perspectives on lone motherhood, Routledge, London
- Stark, E. and Filcraft, A.H. (1988), 'Women and children at risk: a feminist perspective on child abuse', *International Journal of Health Sciences*, vol 18, no. 1, pp. 97-118
- Straus, M.A., Gelles, R.J. and Steinmetz, S. (1980), *Behind closed doors*, Anchor Books, New York
- Taft, A. (2002), 'Violence against women in pregnancy and after childbirth: Current knowledge and issues in health care responses', *Issues Paper No. 6*, Australian Domestic and Family Violence Clearinghouse, Canberra
- Tomison, A. (2000), 'Exploring family violence: Links between child maltreatment and domestic violence', *Issues Paper No. 13*, National Child Protection Clearinghouse, Australian Institute of Family Studies, Melbourne
- Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture (VFST) (2001), *Promoting refugee* health: A handbook for doctors and other health care providers caring for people from refugee backgrounds, VFST, Melbourne
- Victorian Health Promotion Foundation (VicHealth) (2004a), *The health costs of violence: Measuring the burden of disease caused by intimate partner violence*, VicHealth, Melbourne
- VicHealth (2004b), The health costs of violence: Measuring the burden of disease caused by intimate partner violence: A summary of findings (http://rch.org.au/emplibrary/wellwomens/LOTL_DeBasinki.pdf, accessed 26 August, 2009)
- VicHealth (2006), Two steps forward, one step back: Community attitudes to violence against women, VicHealth, Melbourne

- Walby, S. and Allen, J. (2004), Domestic violence, sexual assault and stalking: Findings from the British Crime Survey, Home Office Research Study 276, Home Office, London (http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/rds/pdfs04/hors276.pdf, accessed 1 August, 2009)
- Walker, L.E. (2000), *The battered woman syndrome* (second edition), Springer Publishing, New York
- White, J.G., Bongar White, H. and Larrington, J.M. (2005), Criminal prosecution of battered native women for failure to protect, Southwest Center for Law and Policy & Office on Violence Against Women, U.S. Department of Justice (http://www.swclap.org/pdfs/FAILURETOPROTECT.pdf, accessed 25 June, 2009)
- Winnicott, D. (1953), 'Transitional objects and transitional phenomena', International Journal of Psychoanalysis, vol. 34, pp. 89-97
- Winnicott, D. (1960) 'Ego distortion in terms of true and false self', in D.W. Winnicott (Ed.) (1965) *The maturational processes and the facilitating environment: Studies in the theory of emotional development*, Hogarth Press, London
- Winnicott, D. (1967), 'The concept of clinical regression compared with that of defence organisation', in C. Winnicott, R. Shepherd and M. Davis (Eds) (1989) D.W. Winnicott: Psycho-analytic explorations, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts
- World Health Organisation (WHO), (2006), 'Prevalence of intimate partner violence: Findings from the WHO multi-country study on women's health and domestic violence', *Lancet*, vol. 368, pp. 1260-1269